



Utah Supreme Court's Advisory Committee on the Rules of Juvenile Procedure

Meeting Agenda

Matthew Johnson, Chair

Location: Webex Meeting
Date: December 6, 2024
Time: 12:00 pm – 2:00 pm

Action: Welcome and approval of November 1, 2024, meeting minutes.	Tab 1	Matt Johnson
Discussion & Action: Rule 16 . Transfer of delinquency case. <ul style="list-style-type: none"><i>The proposed amendments to Rule 16 aim to provide clear and consistent direction regarding the transfer of and venue in a delinquency case.</i><i>Committee Vice-Chair Bill Russell proposes further amendments to currently proposed subparagraphs (a)(2) and (a)(3), formerly (a)(1)(D) and (a)(1)(E).</i>	Tab 2	All
Discussion & Action: In re J.M., 2024 UT App 147 and Rule 34 . <ul style="list-style-type: none"><i>The Court of Appeals suggests “adopt[ing] a rule governing the process by which no-contest responses entered pursuant to Rule 34(e) may be withdrawn.” See footnote 6 on page 11 of the Court of Appeals opinion.</i>	Tab 3	All
Discussion: Old business or new business.		All

Meeting Schedule:

January 3, 2025

April 4, 2025

August 1, 2025

November 7, 2025

February 7, 2025

May 2, 2025

September 5, 2025

December 5, 2025

March 7, 2025

June 6, 2025

October 3, 2025

TAB 1



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14

**Utah Supreme Court's
Advisory Committee on the Rules of Juvenile Procedure**

Draft Meeting Minutes

Matthew Johnson, Chair

Location: Webex Meeting
Date: November 1, 2024
Time: 12:30 p.m. – 2:00 p.m.

<u>Attendees:</u> Matthew Johnson, Chair Adrianna Davis David Fureigh, Emeritus Member Dawn Hautamaki Elizabeth Ferrin Judge David Johnson Judge Debra Jensen Michelle Jeffs Thomas Luchs	<u>Excused Members:</u> Arek Butler James Smith Janette White Jordan Putnam Sophia Moore William Russell, Vice Chair
	<u>Guests:</u>
<u>Staff:</u> Joe Mitchell, Juvenile Law Clerk Lisa McQuarrie, Juvenile Law Clerk Tyler Herrera, Juvenile Law Clerk Raymundo Gallardo	

15 **1. Welcome and approval of the October 4, 2024 Meeting Minutes.** (Matthew Johnson)

16
17 Chair Matt Johnson facilitated the November 1, 2024, meeting. Mr. Johnson
18 welcomed everyone to the meeting, introduced new Juvenile Court Law Clerk Joe
19 Mitchell, and asked for member introductions.

20
21 Mr. Johnson then asked the Committee for approval of the October 4, 2024 meeting
22 minutes. Ms. Jeffs moved to approve the minutes as presented. Ms. Davis seconded
23 the motion, and it passed unanimously.

24
25 **2. Discussion & Action: Rule 16. Transfer of delinquency case.** (All)

26
27 Mr. Johnson thanked the member workgroup that worked to amend Rule 16 as
28 currently proposed. The Committee reviewed the changes. Mr. Gallardo noted that
29 Ms. Hautamaki shared the proposed rule changes with the state’s clerk of courts, and
30 there was a comment regarding the applicability of Rule 16 and its proposed changes
31 to bind over cases. Judge Jensen shared her experience working through a bind over
32 case. In short, Judge Jensen, as the judge in the county of occurrence, communicated
33 with the judge in the county of residence and both formulated a plan, which entailed
34 Judge Jensen holding the preliminary hearing in her courtroom and the second
35 judge – the home judge – would hear the factors that help decide whether the case is
36 bound over. Nevertheless, after a review of statute, Judge Jensen indicated she didn’t
37 believe any additional changes to Rule 16 were necessary to address this particular
38 case circumstance. Mr. Johnson then asked the Committee for a motion to present
39 Rule 16 to the Supreme Court for purposes of sending Rule 16 through the public
40 comment period. Ms. Davis made the motion, and Judge Johnson seconded the
41 motion. The motion passed unanimously.

42
43 After some discussion regarding Rule 29 – see below – the Committee returned to
44 discuss the issue of residence and the phrases “county of residence” and “minor
45 resides,” as used throughout Rule 16 and Rule 29. Paragraph (b)(1) of Rule 16 was
46 further amended from “Upon filing of a petition, the arraignment and initial pretrial
47 conference will be held in the district and county where the minor resides.” to “Upon
48 filing of a petition, the arraignment and initial pretrial conference will be held *in the*
49 *minor’s district and county of residence.*” This change was made to show consistency in
50 language. “County of residence” is a phrase used throughout Rule 16 and Rule 29. A
51 similar change was made to paragraph (c)(4) of Rule 16. This paragraph read, “If the
52 petition is adjudicated, the case will be transferred back to the court in the county
53 where the minor resides for disposition and continuing jurisdiction.” Paragraph (c)(4)
54 was amended to read, “If the petition is adjudicated, the case will be transferred back
55 *to the court in the minor’s county of residence* for disposition and continuing jurisdiction.”

56

57 Judge Johnson noted that, although consistent language is helpful, there are other
58 rules, e.g., Rule 16A and Rule 17, that do not use “county of residence,” but instead
59 use the plain language of “where the minor or parent resides” or “residence address.”
60 Judge Johnson stressed that the minor’s or parent’s “residence” as used throughout
61 the entire body of rules means permanent residence, not temporary residence.

62
63 Because additional changes were made to the rule, Mr. Johnson asked for a second
64 motion. Ms. Hautamaki made the motion to present Rule 16 to the Supreme Court
65 and request an initial public comment period. Judge Johnson seconded the motion.
66 The motion passed unanimously.

67
68 **3. Discussion & Action: Rule 29. Multiple County Offenses. (All)**

69
70 The workgroup’s proposed changes to Rule 29 were presented. The Committee
71 expressed their gratitude to Bill Russell for his work on Rule 29. Mr. Gallardo asked
72 the Committee if the language in proposed paragraph (a) relating to “arraignment
73 and pretrial proceedings” should also be included in proposed paragraph (b). The
74 Committee agreed to add “pretrial proceedings” to paragraph (b) so that it now reads,
75 “After arraignment *and pretrial proceedings*, all further proceedings in multiple county
76 offenses will be governed by the provisions of Rule 16.”

77
78 The Committee proceeded to discuss the issue of residence and the language “where
79 the minor resides” in paragraph (a). This proposed language was further amended to
80 reflect the consistent language of “the minor’s county of residence” as it is used in the
81 last sentence of the same paragraph. This same issue gave rise to the changes noted
82 above regarding Rule 16.

83
84 Mr. Johnson then asked for a motion to present Rule 29 to the Supreme Court and
85 request an initial public comment period. Ms. Jeffs made that motion, and Judge
86 Jensen seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

87
88 **4. Discussion: *In re J.M.*, 2024 UT App 147. (All)**

89
90 Mr. Johnson shared that the Court of Appeals has asked this Committee to consider
91 adopting a rule that allows for a process by which no-contest responses pursuant to
92 Rule 34(e) may be withdrawn by parties in a child welfare case.

93
94 Mr. Luchs stated he’s discussed this issue with Ms. Moore and they believe this issue
95 should be addressed. Mr. Luchs added, however, that Rule 34(e) responses may be
96 subject to the procedures outlined in Rule 59 and Rule 60 of the Utah Civil Rules of
97 Procedure. Mr. Fureigh commented that a Rule 34(e) response is not a plea despite
98 the response often likened to a “no-contest” plea in a criminal case. Committee
99 members then had a conversation regarding the colloquy between judges and parents

100 and the emphasis on promises made to parents. It was also mentioned that the court
101 is not bound to any agreements between parties that would lead to parents to respond
102 in a certain way to a petition. The Committee agreed that because a Rule 34(e)
103 response is not a plea but is instead a response that is civil in nature, Rule 34 should
104 be amended to reflect the remedies outlined in Rule 59 and Rule 60 of the Utah Civil
105 Rules of Procedure. This issue was not finalized but placed on the December 6, 2024
106 meeting agenda to allow for additional member input.

107

108 **5. Discussion & Action - Proposed 2025 Meeting Schedule. (All)**

109

110 The Committee reviewed the proposed 2025 meeting schedule. Judge Jensen made a
111 motion to approved the meeting schedule. Ms. Davis seconded the motion, and the
112 motion passed unanimously.

113

114 **6. Old business/new business: (All)**

115

116 Mr. Gallardo reminded the Committee that recently approved Rules 5, 13A, 14, 15,
117 19C, 22, and 50 went into effect November 1, 2024. Rule 31 was repealed effective
118 November 1st.

119

120 Mr. Johnson shared the gratitude expressed by the Supreme Court Justices at a recent
121 Supreme Court Conference. The Justices are grateful for members' participation and
122 hard work put into amending and improving the rules.

123

124 The meeting adjourned at 1:39 p.m. The next meeting will be held on December 6,
125 2024 via Webex.

TAB 2

1 **Rule 16. Transfer of delinquency case and venue.**

2 (a) **Transfer of delinquency case for preliminary inquiry.**

3 ~~(1)~~ When a minor resides in a county within the state other than the county in
4 which the alleged delinquency occurred, and it appears that the minor qualifies
5 for a nonjudicial adjustment pursuant to statute, the ~~intake~~ probation officer of the
6 county of occurrence ~~must~~shall, unless otherwise directed by court order, transfer
7 the referral to the county of residence for a preliminary inquiry to be conducted in
8 accordance with Rule 15. ~~If any of the following circumstances are found to exist~~
9 ~~at the time of preliminary inquiry, t~~The referral ~~must~~shall be transferred back to
10 the county of occurrence for a determination as to whether to filing of a petition
11 if any of the following circumstances are found to exist at the time of the
12 preliminary inquiry and further proceedings:

13 ~~(A) a minor, the child or the child's parent, guardian or custodian cannot~~
14 ~~be located or failed to appear after notice for the preliminary inquiry;~~

15 ~~(B) a minor, the child or the child's parent, guardian or custodian declines~~
16 ~~an offer for a nonjudicial adjustment;~~

17 ~~(E1)~~ a minor or the minor's custodian cannot be located or fails to appear
18 after notice ~~for~~of the preliminary inquiry or the minor declines an offer for
19 a nonjudicial adjustment;

20 ~~(D2)~~ there are circumstances in the case that require adjudication in the
21 county of occurrence in the interest of justice; or

22 ~~(E3)~~ there are multiple minors involved who ~~live~~reside in different
23 counties.

24 (b) Arrest and pretrial proceedings. ~~If the referral is not returned to the county of~~
25 ~~occurrence, a petition may be filed in the county of residence, and the arraignment and~~
26 ~~all further proceedings may be conducted in that county if the petition is admitted.~~

27 (1) Upon filing of a petition, the arraignment and initial pretrial conference will be
28 held in the minor's district and county of residence. If the petition is resolved
29 without a trial, venue will remain in the minor's county of residence.

30 (2) Prosecutors and defense counsel in both the county of occurrence and the
31 county of residence must cooperate with each other both to provide discovery to
32 defense counsel and to assist in the resolution or litigation of each case.

33 (3) The prosecutor in the minor's county of residence has the authority to resolve
34 out-of-county charges after consultation with the prosecutor in the county or
35 counties where the alleged offenses occurred.

36 (4) Prosecutors attempting to resolve petitions must observe the rights of alleged
37 victims in counties of occurrence.

38 (c) Transfer of venue. ~~After the filing of a petition alleging a delinquency or criminal~~
39 ~~action, the court may transfer the case to the district where the minor resides or the~~
40 ~~district where the violation of law or ordinance is alleged to have occurred. The court~~
41 ~~may, in its discretion, after adjudication certify the case for disposition to the court of the~~
42 ~~district in which the minor resides.~~

43 (1) Once the court in the county of residence determines that the matter cannot be
44 resolved, venue will be transferred to the county of occurrence for trial
45 proceedings and scheduling.

46 (2) Any motions related to the admission, exclusion, or suppression of evidence at
47 trial will be filed in and ruled upon by the trial court.

48 (3) Motions for inquiry into competency may be raised and ruled upon in either
49 court. Both the court in the county of residence and the county of occurrence will
50 communicate and consult regarding the motion. The objective of the
51 communication is to consider the appropriate venue for a competency ruling and
52 attainment proceedings.

- 53 (4) If the petition is adjudicated, the case will be transferred back to the court in
54 the minor’s county of residence for disposition and continuing jurisdiction.
- 55 (d) Notice to and proceedings in the receiving court. With each transfer, ~~T~~the
56 transferring ~~or certifying~~ court ~~shall~~will provide notice to the receiving court of the
57 petitions or adjudications subject to transfer. ~~notify the receiving court and transmit all~~
58 ~~documents and legal and social records, or certified copies thereof, to the receiving court.~~
- 59 The receiving court ~~shall~~will proceed with the case from the point where the preceding
60 court transferred the case as though ~~if~~ the petition originally had been ~~originally~~ filed or
61 the adjudication originally had been ~~originally~~ made in that court.
- 62 (e) Dismissal of petition. The dismissal of a petition in one district where the dismissal
63 is without prejudice and where there has been no adjudication upon the merits ~~shall~~does
64 not preclude refiling within the same district or another district where venue is proper.

1 **Rule 16. Transfer of delinquency case and venue.**

2 (a) **Transfer of delinquency case for preliminary inquiry.** When a minor resides in a
3 county within the state other than the county in which the alleged delinquency occurred,
4 and it appears that the minor qualifies for a nonjudicial adjustment pursuant to statute,
5 the probation officer of the county of occurrence must, unless otherwise directed by court
6 order, transfer the referral to the county of residence for a preliminary inquiry to be
7 conducted in accordance with Rule 15. The referral must be transferred back to the county
8 of occurrence for a determination as to whether to file a petition if any of the following
9 circumstances are found to exist at the time of the preliminary inquiry:

10 (1) a minor or the minor's custodian cannot be located or fails to appear after
11 notice of the preliminary inquiry or the minor declines an offer for a nonjudicial
12 adjustment;

13 (2) there are circumstances in the case that require adjudication in the county of
14 occurrence in the interest of justice; or

15 (3) there are multiple minors involved who reside in different counties.

16 (b) **Arrest and pretrial proceedings.**

17 (1) Upon filing of a petition, the arraignment and initial pretrial conference will be
18 held in the minor's district and county of residence. If the petition is resolved
19 without a trial, venue will remain in the minor's county of residence.

20 (2) Prosecutors and defense counsel in both the county of occurrence and the
21 county of residence must cooperate with each other both to provide discovery to
22 defense counsel and to assist in the resolution or litigation of each case.

23 (3) The prosecutor in the minor's county of residence has the authority to resolve
24 out-of-county charges after consultation with the prosecutor in the county or
25 counties where the alleged offenses occurred.

26 (4) Prosecutors attempting to resolve petitions must observe the rights of alleged
27 victims in counties of occurrence.

28 **(c) Transfer of venue.**

29 (1) Once the court in the county of residence determines that the matter cannot be
30 resolved, venue will be transferred to the county of occurrence for trial
31 proceedings and scheduling.

32 (2) Any motions related to the admission, exclusion, or suppression of evidence at
33 trial will be filed in and ruled upon by the trial court.

34 (3) Motions for inquiry into competency may be raised and ruled upon in either
35 court. Both the court in the county of residence and the county of occurrence will
36 communicate and consult regarding the motion. The objective of the
37 communication is to consider the appropriate venue for a competency ruling and
38 attainment proceedings.

39 (4) If the petition is adjudicated, the case will be transferred back to the court in
40 the minor's county of residence for disposition and continuing jurisdiction.

41 **(d) Notice to and proceedings in the receiving court.** With each transfer, the transferring
42 court will provide notice to the receiving court of the petitions or adjudications subject to
43 transfer. The receiving court will proceed with the case from the point where the
44 preceding court transferred the case as though the petition originally had been filed or
45 the adjudication originally had been made in that court.

46 **(e) Dismissal of petition.** The dismissal of a petition in one district where the dismissal
47 is without prejudice and where there has been no adjudication upon the merits does not
48 preclude refileing within the same district or another district where venue is proper.

TAB 3

THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF UTAH, IN THE INTEREST OF J.M., S.M., L.M., AND J.A.M.,
PERSONS UNDER EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE.

N.M.,
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF UTAH,
Appellee.

Opinion
No. 20230310-CA
Filed October 18, 2024

Eighth District Juvenile Court, Vernal Department
The Honorable Ryan B. Evershed
No. 1116736

Jason B. Richards, Alexandra Mareschal, and
Kirstin Norman, Attorneys for Appellant

Sean D. Reyes, Sandi F. Clemens, and John M.
Peterson, Attorneys for Appellee

Martha Pierce, Guardian ad Litem

JUDGE GREGORY K. ORME authored this Opinion, in which
JUDGES DAVID N. MORTENSEN and RYAN D. TENNEY concurred.

ORME, Judge:

¶1 N.M. (Mother) appeals the juvenile court’s termination of her parental rights, arguing her counsel (Counsel) provided ineffective assistance by using an improper procedure to withdraw her response to the custody petition. She also challenges the court’s “strictly necessary” determination. Because Mother’s ineffective assistance claim is untimely, we do not reach

its merits. And we otherwise uphold the juvenile court's termination of her parental rights.

BACKGROUND

¶2 In September 2021, police found J.M., S.M., and L.M.¹ walking along a busy highway with their father (Father). Father was arrested after he fled the scene, leaving the three children behind. The children were inadequately dressed for their walk—at least one did not have shoes and another was not wearing a shirt. Their hygiene had also been ignored. They were placed in emergency custody with the Division of Child and Family Services (DCFS).

¶3 A fourth child, J.A.M., was at home with Mother. Inside the family apartment, DCFS investigators found “lots of trash” and “old food” on the kitchen floors and counters. Smoke alarms had been removed, and Mother told investigators the hot water heater had been broken for about three weeks. The front door was broken because, according to Mother, a neighbor had kicked it in. Investigators did not observe any usable beds or bedding in what would have been the children's bedrooms. Mother told them the children slept in the primary bedroom with her and Father. Mother attributed the disarray to the family trying to move. Given the state of the home, DCFS decided to remove all four children (the Children).

¶4 This was not the family's first encounter with DCFS. As the juvenile court later recognized, the three oldest children—J.M., S.M., and L.M.—had been removed from Mother's and Father's custody multiple times and, as the juvenile court later stated, they had “been under DCFS and court supervision for most of their

1. “The identity of minors should be protected by use of descriptive terms, initials, or pseudonyms.” *See* Utah R. App. P. 24(d).

lives.” In June 2015, a protective supervision services (PSS) case was opened against Mother due to fetal exposure of J.M. to illegal substances. In that case, the juvenile court found that Mother and Father had been using drugs, had no stable housing, and had incidents of domestic violence. In March 2016, the court made additional findings regarding environmental neglect and child endangerment due to the parents’ illegal drug use, resulting in J.M. and later S.M., after his birth, being removed from the home. Custody was eventually returned to Mother subject to protective supervision, and the case was closed in June 2017. But in August 2017, DCFS again determined Mother had exposed her unborn child, this time L.M., to illegal substances, so a third PSS case was opened and remained open until August 2018. In August 2019, a fourth PSS case was opened due to the parents’ physical neglect, domestic-violence-related child abuse, and child endangerment. The three oldest children were again removed, but after extensive in-home services, they were returned to Mother, and the case was closed in January 2021.

¶5 The day after the Children were removed in the case now before us, in September 2021, the State filed a petition asking the juvenile court to find the Children “abused, neglected, and/or dependent” and to award custody to DCFS or to an appropriate family member. At the shelter hearing, the court ordered the Children to remain in DCFS custody, appointed a guardian ad litem to represent the Children, and appointed Counsel to represent Mother.

¶6 In December 2021, Mother and Father attended mediation in which they agreed to respond to the allegations of the custody petition under rule 34(e) of the Utah Rules of Juvenile Procedure “by declining to admit or deny the allegations,” meaning the allegations would “be deemed true,” provided the State amended

those allegations.² Thereafter, the State filed an amended custody petition. At a hearing the next day, the court conducted a colloquy with both Mother and Father, inquiring into whether they understood “that a Rule 34(e) plea is like a no contest plea” under which they would be giving up certain rights. The court endeavored to ensure that they did not feel pressured to respond in this way and that they were not under the influence of drugs or alcohol. The court then accepted the allegations of the petition as true, adjudicated the Children abused and neglected, and canceled the scheduled adjudication trial.

¶7 On January 4, 2022, the court issued its written adjudication order (the Adjudication Order) in which it found that Mother and Father “understood the proceedings and the effect of their” no-contest responses and that they chose this procedural option “willingly and knowingly.” The court found that the “allegations and facts contained in the State’s Petition are true and correct” and, based on this, concluded the Children were

2. Throughout their briefing, the parties have referred to Mother’s response as a rule 34(e) “answer” or “plea.” But these are misnomers. Rule 34(e) offers two distinct avenues for responding to a petition in a child welfare case—either the respondent “may answer by admitting or denying the specific allegations of the petition,” or the respondent may “declin[e] to admit or deny the allegations.” Utah R. Juv. P. 34(e). Mother took the latter tack. She did not answer the petition, instead choosing to neither admit nor deny the allegations in the State’s custody petition. This was not an answer contemplated by the first part of rule 34(e) nor was it a criminal plea. To avoid perpetuating this misuse of terminology and to better capture the unique nature of the latter part of the rule, we refer to Mother’s rule 34(e) response as a “no-contest response,” per our recent decision, *In re B.D.*, 2024 UT App 104, ¶ 12.

abused and neglected. Accordingly, the court awarded guardianship of the Children to DCFS.

¶8 That same day, the court held a disposition hearing in which DCFS recommended against further reunification services for the family. Upon learning of this recommendation, Mother filed a “Motion to Withdraw Rule 34(e) No Contest Plea” in which she requested leave to withdraw her no-contest response, asserting it was “not made knowingly or voluntarily.”³ She argued, among other things, that she had expected DCFS to make reasonable reunification efforts, as it had done multiple times in the past, and she argued she “would have never pled no contest to the Petition if she knew DCFS were recommending termination of reunification, relatively immediately after adjudication.” And she further contended that under rule 25A(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Juvenile Procedure, “pleas of no contest may be withdrawn with leave of the Court upon showing the plea was not knowingly or voluntarily made.”

¶9 On February 2, 2022, oral argument was held on Mother’s motion. The court denied what it called Mother’s motion “to set aside” her no-contest response because it found the response had been “made knowingly and voluntarily.” The court found that Mother had been advised by Counsel, had attended mediation, had had “[a] lot of time to think,” had successfully requested that the petition be amended, and had been informed of her rights by the court. Further, the court found that Mother would likely have responded to the amended petition as she did even if she knew that reunification services would not be offered, because trial on the merits of the amended petition could have hurt her case if the State brought up additional information and everything was “out in the open.”

3. Father filed a similar motion, but because he does not join in this appeal, we do not detail it here.

¶10 In the meantime, DCFS began investigating potential kinship placements for the Children with reference to a list submitted by Mother, starting with the Children's paternal aunt. Because the aunt lived in South Carolina, DCFS initiated a request under the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children (ICPC), but the request was denied after the aunt failed to respond and provide necessary information. DCFS then initiated an ICPC request for the Children's paternal grandmother (Grandmother), who also lived in South Carolina. But due to several administrative errors, the request was delayed for seven months. DCFS also initiated an ICPC request for a paternal uncle in Oregon, who could not take any of the Children, and for another paternal uncle in Virginia, who was eventually approved to take two of the Children. The two oldest children, J.M. and S.M., were subsequently placed with this uncle in Virginia. Because another suitable kinship placement could not be found for L.M. and J.A.M., they remained in foster care.

¶11 In April 2022, the State filed a petition for termination of Mother's and Father's parental rights. At the four-day termination trial, various witnesses testified about the events outlined above. In particular, Grandmother testified about her desire to be a kinship placement for the Children. She stated she had not been contacted in South Carolina as a result of the ICPC request. She testified that while she had not asked for visitation with the Children since their removal, she had contacted DCFS about becoming a placement. She expressed frustration with DCFS, believing it was "keeping a lot of secrets" and being "dishonest." She admitted she did not trust DCFS and that, barring a court order to the contrary, she felt it was safe to return the Children to their parents. She also admitted she had arranged to pick up a fifth child born to the parents in Colorado during the pendency of this

case and take the infant to South Carolina until “this case closed.”⁴ Several other witnesses testified, including the Children’s then-current placements as well as Mother and Father.

¶12 The court later issued its termination order (the Termination Order), in which it found that Mother and Father had neglected the Children. The court went on to find that termination was in the Children’s best interest. As part of its best-interest inquiry, the court found it was strictly necessary to terminate Mother’s and Father’s parental rights. After noting the efforts made to place the Children in a kinship placement with their paternal aunt, two paternal uncles, and Grandmother, the court stated that there was “simply no family placement available in this case that could accommodate all four children.” As concerns Grandmother, the court indicated that because her house had only one extra bedroom, she could only possibly be approved as a placement for two of the Children. The court also acknowledged the various administrative errors that had waylaid Grandmother’s ICPC approval, but it ultimately found that Grandmother was not an appropriate placement for the Children.⁵

4. The evidence suggested that Father had driven Mother hours away to a hospital in Colorado that did not have a maternity ward and that while being transported to another hospital that did, she delivered the new baby in an ambulance. Grandmother was then supposed to travel to Colorado and bring the child back to South Carolina with her, in an apparent effort to avoid DCFS interference.

5. During the trial, the court learned that Grandmother’s ICPC request was still pending. The court “strongly considered” staying the trial to await the ICPC decision, but it ultimately decided against doing so because (1) no party requested it and (2) “an approved ICPC would not change the Court’s mind as to whether [Grandmother] would be an appropriate placement.”

¶13 In its extensive findings regarding Grandmother, the court found she “never requested to have contact or visitation with the [C]hildren” after their removal and she “never contacted DCFS or the Court to ask for updates” about the delayed ICPC request. The court found that “Grandmother believes whatever the parents tell her regarding the conditions of the home, problems with the placements, and case issues” and that she “seemed unaware . . . of the significance of the issues faced by the family and the neglect occurring in the family home.” The court also noted Grandmother’s testimony that she regretted “initially reporting the parents to DCFS years ago” and that she “wouldn’t do that now.” Further, the court found that Grandmother’s relationship with her son in Virginia—J.M. and S.M.’s placement—had reached the point of no contact because Grandmother “bought into the lies and paranoia” sown by Mother and Father regarding DCFS. The court noted that Grandmother testified at trial that “if the [C]hildren were placed with her, she would return” them to Mother and Father “when she thought it was appropriate.” And Grandmother admitted to conspiring to take the fifth child to South Carolina to avoid DCFS involvement. *See supra* note 4. Ultimately, the court concluded it could not “trust [Grandmother] to ensure the safety and protection of the [C]hildren.”

¶14 The court also considered alternatives to termination. But it found that the placement of J.M. and S.M. in Virginia “should not be disturbed” as they “are thriving with the family.” The court found that while J.M. and S.M.’s kinship placement was “more amenable to a non-termination option,” adoption was strictly necessary, as evidenced by the fact that the relationship between the parents and the paternal uncle’s family had “deteriorated to a point where they are not having contact.” The court found J.M. and S.M. were “integrated into the family,” called their aunt and uncle “mom and dad,” viewed their cousins as siblings, and considered them “their primary family.”

¶15 As for the younger children, L.M. and J.A.M., the court found that though they were not placed with kin, they were also thriving. The court found permanent guardianship with their foster family was not a suitable alternative to termination because “after many years of assistance,” Mother and Father “cannot adjust their circumstances to properly care for” them. The court noted that Mother and Father had “a lot of animosity” for the foster parents and had threatened them with legal action, saying they would “get what is coming to them.” The court also found that Mother and Father instructed L.M. and J.A.M. to expose the foster parents’ “lies.”

¶16 Further, the court found that Mother and Father had complained multiple times about the Children calling their placements “mom and dad” and had “put their needs above the children’s and consistently allowed this concern to get in the way of having productive visits with” them. Accordingly, the court found that adoption of all the Children was in their best interest and that termination was strictly necessary to facilitate it. The court ordered both Mother’s and Father’s parental rights terminated.

¶17 Mother appeals.

ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

¶18 On appeal, Mother argues Counsel provided ineffective assistance by using an improper procedure to seek withdrawal of her no-contest response to the State’s custody petition. “In child welfare cases, we employ the *Strickland* test to determine a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel.” *In re K.J.*, 2024 UT App 47, ¶ 45, 548 P.3d 886 (quotation simplified), *cert. denied*, 554 P.3d 924 (Utah 2024). But here, we must first determine the threshold issue of whether we have jurisdiction to reach the merits of this argument. “Questions about appellate jurisdiction are questions of law that, by definition, arise for the first time in the appellate

setting.” *In re R.P.*, 2024 UT App 106, ¶ 7, 554 P.3d 1183 (quotation simplified).

¶19 Mother also argues it was not strictly necessary to terminate her parental rights. Specifically, she challenges the juvenile court’s determination that DCFS made adequate efforts to locate a kinship placement with Grandmother, and she argues the court failed to consider permanent guardianship with Grandmother or the Children’s current placements as an alternative to outright termination of her parental rights. “Whether a parent’s rights should be terminated presents a mixed question of law and fact” and “we will thus overturn a juvenile court’s termination decision only if it is against the clear weight of the evidence or leaves us with a firm and definite conviction that a mistake has been made.” *In re B.W.*, 2022 UT App 131, ¶ 45, 521 P.3d 896 (quotation simplified), *cert. denied*, 525 P.3d 1269 (Utah 2023). “Put differently, we will overturn a termination decision only if the juvenile court either failed to consider all of the facts or considered all of the facts and its decision was nonetheless against the clear weight of the evidence.” *Id.* (quotation simplified).

ANALYSIS

I. Mother’s No-Contest Response

¶20 Counsel argued that Mother’s no-contest response, pursuant to which the allegations of the amended custody petition were deemed true, should have been withdrawn under rule 25A(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Juvenile Procedure because it “was not knowingly or voluntarily made.” On appeal, Mother argues this was the wrong procedure to withdraw her response

and, thus, Counsel provided ineffective assistance. But we lack jurisdiction to address the merits of this claim.⁶

¶21 “This court has original jurisdiction over appeals from the juvenile court,” *In re R.P.*, 2024 UT App 106, ¶ 8, 554 P.3d 1183 (citing Utah Code § 78A-4-103(3)(c)), “and our rules of appellate procedure provide that a party may appeal ‘a final order or judgment,’” *id.* (quoting Utah R. App. P. 3(a)(1)). “[I]n appeals from juvenile court, finality is viewed somewhat more flexibly than in the district court context.” *In re J.E.*, 2023 UT App 3, ¶ 19, 524 P.3d 1009. “The determining factor in deciding which orders in a child welfare case are final and appealable as a matter of right is whether the order effects a change in the permanent status of the child.” *In re R.P.*, 2024 UT App 106, ¶ 11 (quotation simplified).

¶22 “Utah’s appellate courts have determined that in child welfare proceedings, unlike traditional civil cases, appeals may be heard from more than one final judgment.” *Id.* ¶ 9 (quotation simplified). “This difference does not stem from a different

6. We were informed by the parties that no-contest responses under rule 34(e) have been referred to in juvenile court as “no-contest pleas” and utilized in an informal procedure that borrows from criminal law and from rules 24 through 29 of the Utah Rules of Juvenile Procedure, which govern delinquency. We note that because a no-contest response entered under rule 34(e) applies to “non-delinquency cases,” *see* Utah R. Juv. P. 34(a), it should be governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure—not criminal law or delinquency procedure, *see id.* R. 2(a) (“When the proceeding involves neglect, abuse, dependency, termination of parental rights, adoption, status offenses or truancy, the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure shall apply unless inconsistent with these rules.”). The Advisory Committee on the Utah Rules of Juvenile Procedure may wish to adopt a rule governing the process by which no-contest responses entered pursuant to rule 34(e) may be withdrawn.

application of or exception to the final judgment rule, but rather from the unique nature of juvenile court jurisdiction, which often continues after a final judgment is rendered.” *Id.* (quotation simplified). But “where a final ruling or order of the trial court goes unchallenged by appeal, such becomes the law of the case, and is not thereafter subject to later challenge.” *In re H.H.*, 2024 UT App 25, ¶ 87, 546 P.3d 39 (quotation simplified), *cert. denied*, 550 P.3d 997 (Utah 2024). “A notice of appeal in a child welfare case must be filed within fifteen days after the entry of the operative court order.” *In re R.P.*, 2024 UT App 106, ¶ 8. *See* Utah R. App. P. 52(a); Utah R. Juv. P. 52(a)(1). And “[i]f an appeal is not timely filed, this court lacks jurisdiction over the issues raised.” *In re R.P.*, 2024 UT App 106, ¶ 8.

¶23 Here, the Adjudication Order was a final, appealable order. *See In re H.H.*, 2024 UT App 25, ¶ 87 (holding that “an adjudication order is final for purposes of appeal”) (quotation simplified). The juvenile court properly considered Mother’s post-adjudication motion to withdraw her no-contest response as a post-judgment motion to set aside the Adjudication Order. The court’s denial of this motion, which was in essence a motion for relief from judgment pursuant to rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, was itself a final, appealable order. *See Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 970 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (“[A]n order denying relief under Rule 60(b) is a final appealable order.”). Thus, the proper time to raise Counsel’s alleged ineffective assistance would have been in an appeal from that ruling, made 15 days after the February 2, 2022 hearing in which the court denied Mother’s motion. *See* Utah R. Juv. P. 52(a)(1); Utah R. App. P. 52(a). But Mother did not do so. Instead, she raised the issue in her notice of appeal from the Termination Order entered over a year later, in April 2023—well outside the 15-day window.

¶24 Mother’s chance to raise this ineffective assistance claim came and went when she appealed neither the Adjudication

Order nor the denial of her post-judgment motion challenging the Adjudication Order. We therefore lack jurisdiction to address the claim here. *See In re R.P.*, 2024 UT App 106, ¶ 8 (“If an appeal is not timely filed, this court lacks jurisdiction over the issues raised.”).

II. Termination of Mother’s Parental Rights

¶25 “A court may terminate parental rights only after making two necessary findings” — “first, the court must find, by clear and convincing evidence, that at least one statutory ground for termination exists,” and “second, the court must find that termination of the parent’s rights is in the best interest of the child.” *In re J.P.*, 2021 UT App 134, ¶ 13, 502 P.3d 1247 (quotation simplified). Mother’s challenge to the termination of her parental rights centers on the second part of this inquiry.

¶26 “Because any number of factors can have bearing on the child, the best-interest inquiry is a broad-ranging, holistic examination of all the relevant circumstances that might affect a child’s situation.” *Id.* ¶ 14 (quotation simplified). And termination must be “strictly necessary from the child’s point of view.” *Id.* ¶ 15 (quotation simplified). Our Supreme Court has instructed that the strictly necessary inquiry is part of the best-interest inquiry. *Id.* (citing *In re B.T.B.*, 2020 UT 60, ¶¶ 60, 76, 472 P.3d 827). “Termination is strictly necessary only when, after exploring possible placements for the child, the juvenile court concludes that no other feasible options exist that could address the specific problems or issues facing the family, short of imposing the ultimate remedy of terminating the parent’s rights.” *Id.* (quotation simplified). “Indeed, courts must start the best interest analysis from the legislatively mandated position that wherever possible, family life should be strengthened and preserved, and if the child can be equally protected and benefited by an option other than termination, termination is not strictly necessary.” *In re J.J.W.*, 2022 UT App 116, ¶ 29, 520 P.3d 38 (quotation simplified).

¶27 Mother argues it was not strictly necessary to terminate her parental rights. She asserts that the court did not give due weight to DCFS's inadequate efforts to approve a kinship placement that could accommodate all four Children—namely, placing them with Grandmother. She also argues that the court failed to consider permanent guardianship with Grandmother or the Children's current placements as alternatives to termination. We address these arguments in turn.

A. Kinship Placement

¶28 Under Utah Code section 80-4-104(12)(b)(ii), “[i]n determining whether termination is in the best interest of the child, and in finding, based on the totality of the circumstances, that termination of parental rights, from the child's point of view, is strictly necessary to promote the child's best interest, the juvenile court shall consider” whether “the efforts to place the child with a relative who has, or is willing to come forward to care for the child, were given due weight.” Mother argues the court did not adhere to this statutory directive. In particular, she argues the court failed to consider DCFS's “botched” efforts to have Grandmother approved as a kinship placement. We disagree.

¶29 The juvenile court has “an obligation to consider proposed kinship placements, and if a court rejects a kinship placement, it must give reasons on the record for doing so.” *In re B.W.*, 2022 UT App 131, ¶ 67, 521 P.3d 896, *cert. denied*, 525 P.3d 1269 (Utah 2023). “[A]lthough there's a statutory preference for kinship placements, and although courts must appropriately explore kinship placements as a result, courts that explore such options may then conclude, on the facts before them, that a different option is in fact in a child's best interest.” *Id.* ¶ 68. “[I]f a court has complied with its statutory obligations, its resultant best interest determination is entitled to deference.” *Id.* ¶ 69.

¶30 In the Termination Order, the court detailed the efforts DCFS made to submit an ICPC request for Grandmother, as well

as the many administrative errors that had occurred during the process. But regrettable though these missteps were, the court also made two pages of findings rejecting Grandmother as an appropriate kinship placement. The court noted Grandmother's lack of contact with the Children, DCFS, or the court, even after the ICPC request was delayed. And the court found that even if Grandmother's ICPC request had been approved, she only had one extra bedroom in her home and thus could only have been approved for two of the Children—not all four. Of particular concern, the court found that Grandmother "believes whatever the parents tell her" and that she had "bought into" Mother's and Father's "lies and paranoia" about DCFS to the detriment of her relationship with her son in Virginia and her relationship with J.M. and S.M. As summarized by the court, Grandmother testified at trial that "if the [C]hildren were placed with her, she would return" them to Mother and Father "when she thought it was appropriate." She also conspired to conceal the birth of the fifth child born during the pendency of this case to avoid DCFS involvement. In sum, the court concluded it could not "trust [Grandmother] to ensure the safety and protection of the [C]hildren."

¶31 After learning that Grandmother's ICPC request was still pending during the termination trial, the court "strongly considered" whether to stay the trial pending the ICPC decision. But the court ultimately decided against issuing a stay because (1) no party requested it and (2) in light of the above findings, "an approved ICPC would not change the Court's mind as to whether [Grandmother] would be an appropriate placement." The court acknowledged the statutory directive that "family members coming forward to provide placement for the [C]hildren" must "be given due weight." And the court did give due weight to a potential kinship placement with Grandmother—though it ultimately found the placement to be inappropriate. Thus, we cannot say that the court "failed to consider all of the facts or that it considered all of the facts and its decision was nonetheless

against the clear weight of the evidence.” *In re B.W.*, 2022 UT App 131, ¶ 82, 521 P.3d 896 (quotation simplified).

B. Permanent Guardianship

¶32 Mother also argues the court failed to consider permanent guardianship with Grandmother or with the Children’s current placements as alternatives to termination of her parental rights. We disagree.

¶33 In the Termination Order, the court thoroughly considered kinship placement with Grandmother, concluding it was not appropriate and that Grandmother could not be trusted “to ensure the safety and protection of the [C]hildren.” Because Grandmother had “bought into the lies and paranoia of the parents regarding DCFS”; had expressed regret over previously reporting the parents to DCFS; and had “testified that, if the [C]hildren were placed with her, she would return [them] to the parents when she thought it was appropriate,” the court determined she was not an appropriate kinship placement and, thus, certainly not a suitable permanent guardian for the Children.

¶34 The court also considered whether permanent guardianship with the Children’s then-current placements—J.M. and S.M. with family in Virginia and L.M. and J.A.M. with a foster family—could be an alternative to termination. With regard to J.M. and S.M., the court found that while their family placement was “more amenable to a non-termination option,” from the point of view of the children, adoption was strictly necessary as the relationship between their paternal uncle’s family and Mother and Father had “deteriorated to a point where they are not having contact.” The court found J.M. and S.M. were “integrated into the family,” called their foster parents “mom and dad,” viewed their cousins as siblings, and considered them “their primary family.”

¶35 With regard to L.M. and J.A.M., the court found permanent guardianship was not feasible as Mother and Father, “after many years of assistance, cannot adjust their circumstances to properly care for” them. The court noted that Mother and Father had “a lot of animosity” toward the foster parents, had threatened them with legal action, and had made statements that they would “get what is coming to them.” The court found that Mother and Father had told L.M. and J.A.M. to expose the foster parents’ “lies.” The court further found that Mother and Father had complained multiple times about the Children calling their placements “mom and dad” and had “put their needs above the children’s and consistently allowed this concern to get in the way of having productive visits with their children.”

¶36 After considering permanent guardianship with both Grandmother and the Children’s current placements, the court concluded that “no option satisfies the Children’s need for safety, stability, and permanency more than adoption.” Thus, we cannot say the court failed to consider permanent guardianship as an alternative to termination.

CONCLUSION

Because we lack jurisdiction over Mother’s untimely ineffective assistance claim, we cannot address it. And we decline to overturn the juvenile court’s determination that it was strictly necessary to terminate Mother’s parental rights. Accordingly, we affirm.

1 **Rule 34. Pre-trial hearing in non-delinquency cases.**

2 (a) Petitions in non-delinquency cases ~~shall~~will be scheduled for an initial pre-trial
3 hearing.

4 (b) The pre-trial hearing ~~shall~~will be scheduled on the nearest court calendar date
5 available in all cases where the subject minor is in temporary shelter care custody in
6 accordance with Utah Code section 80-3-401.

7 (c) In the pre-trial hearing, the court ~~shall~~will advise the parent, guardian or custodian of
8 the minor's rights and of the authority of the court in such cases. In the hearing or in any
9 continuance of the hearing, the parent, guardian, or custodian ~~shall~~must answer the
10 petition in open court.

11 (d) Before answering, the respondent may move to dismiss the petition as insufficient to
12 state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The court ~~shall~~will hear all parties and
13 rule on said motion before requiring a party to answer.

14 (e) A respondent may answer by admitting or denying the specific allegations of the
15 petition, or by declining to admit or deny the allegations. Allegations not specifically
16 denied by a respondent ~~shall~~will be deemed true.

17 (f) Except in cases where the petitioner is seeking a termination of parental rights, the
18 court may enter the default of any respondent who fails to file an answer, or who fails to
19 appear either in person or by counsel after having been served with a summons or notice
20 pursuant to Rule 18. Allegations relating to any party in default ~~shall~~will be deemed
21 admitted unless the court, on its own motion, or the motion of any party not in default,
22 ~~shall~~will require evidence in support of the petition. Within the time limits set forth in
23 Rule 60 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure~~Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)~~, upon the written motion
24 of any party in default and a showing of good cause, the court may set aside an entry of
25 default.

26 (g) The utilization of Rule 34(e) as an answer to a child welfare petition is civil in nature.
27 Relief from Rule 34(e) responses are governed by civil remedies, including Rule 59 and
28 Rule 60 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and applicable appellate procedure.

1 **Rule 34. Pre-trial hearing in non-delinquency cases.**

2 (a) Petitions in non-delinquency cases will be scheduled for an initial pre-trial hearing.

3 (b) The pre-trial hearing will be scheduled on the nearest court calendar date available in
4 all cases where the subject minor is in temporary shelter care custody in accordance with
5 Utah Code section 80-3-401.

6 (c) In the pre-trial hearing, the court will advise the parent, guardian or custodian of the
7 minor's rights and of the authority of the court in such cases. In the hearing or in any
8 continuance of the hearing, the parent, guardian, or custodian must answer the petition
9 in open court.

10 (d) Before answering, the respondent may move to dismiss the petition as insufficient to
11 state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The court will hear all parties and rule on
12 said motion before requiring a party to answer.

13 (e) A respondent may answer by admitting or denying the specific allegations of the
14 petition, or by declining to admit or deny the allegations. Allegations not specifically
15 denied by a respondent will be deemed true.

16 (f) Except in cases where the petitioner is seeking a termination of parental rights, the
17 court may enter the default of any respondent who fails to file an answer, or who fails to
18 appear either in person or by counsel after having been served with a summons or notice
19 pursuant to Rule 18. Allegations relating to any party in default will be deemed admitted
20 unless the court, on its own motion, or the motion of any party not in default, will require
21 evidence in support of the petition. Within the time limits set forth in Rule 60 of the Utah
22 Rules of Civil Procedure, upon the written motion of any party in default and a showing
23 of good cause, the court may set aside an entry of default.

24 (g) The utilization of Rule 34(e) as an answer to a child welfare petition is civil in nature.
25 Relief from Rule 34(e) responses are governed by civil remedies, including Rule 59 and
26 Rule 60 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and applicable appellate procedure.